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Historiu novostavby Obchodnej a priemyselnej komory (OPK) v KoSiciach - originalneho repre-
zentanta architektonického dedicstva koSickej moderny, do istej miery naplnil uz predchadzajici
archivny vyskum autorky. Ten postupne priniesol nielen chybajicu dobovu projektovii a fotogra-
fickd dokumentaciu samotnej komorovej budovy, poznanie jej pé6vodnych exteriérovych, no najma
interiérovych kvalit, rieSenia dispozicii a tCelnej prevadzky, ale aj kvality zlatoZltych travertinovych
obkladov vstupnych priestorov, keramickych dlaZieb ¢i umelého kamera v kontexte schodisk.
Zachovali sa ich povodné, pre tento priestor dizajnované kovové zabradlia, a tieZ bohata Stukova vy-
tvarna vyzdoba stropov s origindlnym geometrickym dizajnom. Tie si pravdepodobne dielom skve-
1ého spolupracovnika autora projektu OPK architekta Oelschldgera, koSického sochara, kamenara a
Stukatéra Juliusa Kristofa. Vyskum tejto zaujimavej osobnosti Kosic este nie je ukonceny, no je viac
ako pravdepodobné, Ze architektovej tvorbe najma dvadsiatych rokov 20. storo€ia, punc vytvarnej
origindlnosti dodaval prave on. Bohaté variacie umeleckého dotvorenia exteriérov, no najma interié-
rov, aj v Eurépe v stale aktualnom style art deco, obohacuju diela architekta tak v KoSiciach (Orto-
doxna synagdga a skola, Kino Férum, Hasi¢ska kasaren, bytovy dom na Masiarskej 9, budova OPK
a mnohé iné), v Tornali (Mestsky trad, Evanjelicky kostol), Michalovciach (Kino a Mestsky drad),
Tatranskej Polianke (Sanatérium Dr. Ghura — pristavba), v Ruzbachoch (Biely dom), Novych Zam-
koch a inde, ako aj na Ukrajine, niekdajsej Podkarpatskej Rusi. Dotvaraju napriklad dizajn Zidovskej
skoly a spolocenského domu, tieZ polyfunkéného kina a kniZnice v Uzhorode, ale aj Obecného domu
v Sevlusi - teraz Vinohradovo, Obecného domu v Svaljave, ¢i kina v Mukaceve.

Zial, z budovy OPK zmizol dobovy mobiliar, aj originalne interiérové svietidla, ktoré si zachy-
tené na dobovych fotografiach kosického ateliéru Gyéry e Boros tesne po dostavbe.

Novym prinosom bolo aj najdenie ¢asti projektovej dokumentacie novostavby moderného
narozného bytového domu pre uradnikov penzijného fondu komory (1937). A to jednak kvoli uve-
domeniu si rozsahu posobnosti tejto unikatnej medzivojnovej institicie, ktora do siedmich rokov
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od dokoncenia novostavby samotnej budovy OPK dokazala zrealizovat moderné byvanie pre vyse
dvadsat rodin svojich zamestnancov, ale aj pre autora projektu bytového domu. Osloveny bol opat
architekt Oelschlager, ktory invencné rieSenie tentoraz zakazky v kontexte byvania, s odkazmi na
kompozi¢né riesenie presvetlenia priestoru nad vstupom Zidovskej Skoly v Uzhorode — vertikalnym
pasom ukoncenym kruhovym oknom (1926), pouZil v KoSiciach nad vstupom bytového domu, ale

v opacnom garde. Hladki asymetrickd uli¢nt fasadu, s akcentom naroznych okien, dopliajt fran-
ctzske okna a tmavohnedy keramicky obklad sokla a vstupnych portalov. Realizaitorom moderného
bytového domu v zavere historického centra mesta, tak ako aj novej budovy OPK, bol opat domaci
stavitel Hugo Kabos.

V priebehu necelého roka po dostavbe bytového domu pre zamestnancov komory, sa vedenie
kosickej OPK angaZuje aj na priprave jubilejnej vystavy k 20. vyro¢iu CSR. Na architektonickej
sdtazi na budicu podobu hlavnych pavilénov Vystavy vychodu 1938, ktoré po jej ukonceni mali
slizit novej vysokej $kole technickej v KoSiciach, sa zicastiiuje aj architekt Oelschldger. Najdenie
sitaznych projektov na hlavné pavilony vystavy, medzi ktorymi bol aj spolocny projekt architektov
Oelschlagera a Friedmanna, prekvapilo. Hoci autorom vitazného navrhu hlavného pavilénu vystavy
,Ceskoslovensky $tat“ v $tyle pragmatického funkcionalizmu bol fesky architekt Rudolf Brebta, zau-
jimavé riesenie priniesli aj KoSicania. Pri navrhu vstupného priecelia hlavného pavilonu vystavy sa

inSpirovali vytvarnym rieSenim hlavného priecelia ustredného pavilonu svetovej vystavy v Bruseli

z roku 1935.

The Chamber of Commerce and Industry (Obchodnd a Priemyselnd
Komora in Slovak; hereinafter OPK) in KoSice was established in
1850 as one of the most prominent such institutions in Aus-
tro-Hungary, operating across eight regions and 56 districts
encompassing a population of 1.5 million. As the territory of the
Hapsburg Monarchy was divided into 6o chamber regions, the
OPK in KoSice was one of seventeen such regional chambers

in the Kingdom of Hungary. Initially, the Chamber in KoSice
operated from two leased offices in the building of the KoSice
Savings Bank at Hlavna 4 and was formed with the primary aim
of supporting the development of local commerce and indus-
try and overcoming specific business problems which existed
within the district. Typically, the management of the Chamber
was drawn from leading figures in the economic life of the city
and district who could use their influence in critical decisions,
such as the extension of the railway network to Kosice and later
to Kysak and PreSov, the urban development of the city and its
gasification and electrification, and the introduction of vocation-
al education, in which it played a pioneering role in Hungary.
OPKs were mandatory organizations covering all sectors of
commerce, crafts and industry and were funded through specific
surcharges on direct earnings taxes.!

The KoSice Chamber continued its activities after the estab-
lishment of the Czechoslovak Republic. The Ministry for Slovak
Administration issued Regulation 139/1919 which amended the
territories of individual OPKs in line with the borders of the new
state, with the KoSice Chamber now incorporating the regions of
Spis, Sari$ and Uhorod, the area of the Zemplin and Abov-Turfia
counties and the province of Subcarpathian Rus.?

The OPK sought to raise the economic level and contrib-
ute to improving production and commerce in the region,
both through collaboration with local businessmen and in its
capacity as an advisory body to all levels of public administra-
tion, including those at the highest level. Among its main tasks
was the compilation of reports for the Ministry on the economic
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conditions in the region, cultivating sales opportunities for local
producers and promoting infrastructural development. One of
the most important activities was its cooperation in transport,
post and communication, and the OPK was heavily involved

in the construction of new railways and the nationalization

of private railways and advocated for revisions to postal and
telegraphic rates.

The OPK also organized numerous trade fairs which, in
addition to their social and educational benefit, were mainly
focused on promoting local firms and producers with the aim
of gaining new sales opportunities. Conditions for organizing
trade fairs and public expositions only re-emerged after the
end of the war and the subsequent consolidation of political
and commercial relationships. This was particularly the case
for Slovakia, which had become part of the newly established
Czechoslovak Republic in 1918 following the collapse of the
Austro-Hungarian Empire. Further complicating the post-war
situation in Slovakia was the need to undergo a complex phase
of territorial integration to match the internationally decreed
borders, especially the border with Hungary, which suffered
considerable destruction during the Hungarian-Czechoslovak
War from April to June 1919. Slovakia was also forced to cope
with the long-term negative consequences of its separation from
Hungary, including the loss of traditional markets, the disad-
vantageous north-south orientation of the railway network and
the shortages of qualified personnel. Economic ties between the
less developed, overwhelmingly agrarian Slovakia and the more
advanced economies of the Czech lands formed only gradually
and were not without difficulties.® Business conditions in the
Czech lands were significantly more favourable, as reflected in
the annual national Commercial Exposition held there between
1920 and 1938.

With considerable support from the Kosice OPK, the
first post-war Commerce and Industry Exposition was held in
Kosice in September 1922, and Sub-Carpathian Rus's first trade
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exhibition was held in Uzhhorod and its first commercial fair

in Mukachevo, both in 1927. Of the 19 exhibitions held in KoSice
in the inter-war years, the Kosice OPK devoted the greatest atten-
tion to the preparation and organization of the Exposition of
the East which was held in 1938 to commemorate the twentieth
anniversary of the establishment of the Czechoslovak Republic.
Work on the preparation of the exposition was undertaken

by the exhibition office under its director, the Czech architect
Vaclav Rostlapil (1901 — 1979)* and also by Associate Professor Jifi
Kroha (1893 — 1974)° who had worked on many exhibitions both
in Czechoslovakia and abroad, including the Jubilee Exhibition
in Brno in 1928 and the Construction and Housing Exhibition in
Brno in 1933. The overall concept of the exposition and the plan
of the exhibition area were drawn up by Kroha’s close collabo-
rator, the Czech architect Miloslav Kopfiva (1894 — 1963).° The
aim of the project was to construct a modern exhibition area
including four permanent pavilions which could be converted
for later use as a planned technical college. The winner of the
competition for the design of the main “Czechoslovak State”
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pavilion was a pragmatic functionalist proposal by Rudolf Bre-
bta (1885 — 1953)’, a Czech architect who was active in inter-war
KoSice. An interesting alternative design for the main pavilion
was the unrealized proposal by the KoSice architects Ludovit
Oelschldger (1886 — 1984)® and Ernest Friedmann (1899 — ?)°, in
which the main facade used an art deco approach forming a re-
duced parallel to the central pavilion of the Brussels Internation-
al Exposition in 1935.°° Oelschlager and Friedmann's proposal
for entrances to the “Engineering” and “Agriculture” pavilions
are an example of the mutual professional respect between the
architects and Brebta, with Brebta’s rational constructivism
merging with Oelschldger’s creativity in the final design. The
fourth pavilion, “Rural Slovakia”, which compositionally closed
the space in front of the main pavilion on the western side, was
designed by the KoSice architect Vojtech Sipo§ (1888 — 1969)."
The organisation of the interiors of the main pavilions and

the exhibits was planned by students of the School of Applied
Arts in Prague, with the participation of Associate Professor
Pavel Janak (1882 — 1956)* and the Czech architect Karel KoZelka
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(1909 — 1992).2 Held in Kosice from July 16th to 31st August 1938,
the remarkably successful exposition was praised in commercial
and industrial circles.*

The Kosice OPK was also heavily involved in the develop-
ment of vocational education. The Chamber sponsored the for-
mation of several vocational schools, for example in Mukachevo
(1925 — 1926) and in Kosice, where the OPK supported the estab-
lishment of a pioneering modern vocational school for 8oo —
1000 students. The school building was a functionalist design by
the renowned Brno architect Eduard Zacek (1899 — 1973).5

The Chamber organized professional courses and lec-
tures, sponsored scholarships and offered support to pupils of
vocational schools, prioritizing the children of poor craftsmen,
traders, and merchants. It also donated to various excursions,
exhibitions of students work, and also professional courses for
teachers with the aim of improving the standard of education.
Parallel activities organized by the Slovak Chamber of Commerce
and Industry also contributed to the establishment of the first
School of Applied Arts in Bratislava in 1928.1

Construction of the OPK Building in Kosice
The scope of the activities of the Kosice OPK expanded further

after the establishment of the Czechoslovak Republic due to
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the need to prepare its work not only in the official language of
Slovak but also in its region’s three minority languages — Hun-
garian, German and Ruthenian.”” Between 1919 and 1938, the in-
terests of Slovak commerce remained in a delicate balance with
those of Hungarian businessmen operating in east Slovakia and
Sub-Carpathian Rus. Due to the broadened agenda, the increased
number of employees and the need to further the development
of their activities, the rented space in the KoSice Savings Bank
building no longer sufficed for the needs of the OPK. Therefore,
after 1926, the Chamber began to pay serious consideration to
the construction of their own premises which would include

a library, sample room, lecture halls, classrooms for vocational
training for traders and craftsmen and a large reception room
for public events. An extensive property on the corner of Hlavna
and Tordassyho ulica (now Bacikova) which was managed by
the Womens’ Charitable Association for its owners, the firm of
Tordassy — Zlinszky, was selected as the site of the new offices.®
After a prolonged legal dispute over the foreclosure of the prop-
erty, an architectural design competition for the new building
was prepared and preliminary construction work commenced.?
However, none of the submitted proposals fulfilled the condi-
tions of the competition requirements and no winning project
was announced, although three second prizes were awarded:

1
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of Kosice ——

to the Czech architect Rudolf Brebta, the renowned Bratislava
architect Milan Michal Harminc (1869 — 1964) and the KoSice
architect Ludovit Oelschlager.

The final design for the new OPK building in KoSice was
completed in 1929.7 Its preparation was entrusted to the ambi-
tious 33-year-old Oelschldger, who had already successfully de-
signed several large scale public buildings in the city.?? A regular
participant in architectural competitions, Oelschlager had won
prestigious commissions not only in his hometown but also in
other towns in Slovakia and Sub-Carpathian Rus.” After grad-
uating from the Technical University of Budapest in 1921 and
completing a two-year study tour of Europe, he gained work
experience at the Budapest architecture studio of Géza Bog-
danfy* and Gedeon Gerl6czy (1895 — 1975). In 1924 he returned
to Kosice, collaborating with the architect Zoltan Géza Boskd*
until 1929, later establishing his own architectural firm in the
house of his father, the iron magnate Ludovit Oelschlager Sr.
While the management of the KoSice OPK granted Oelschlager
the commission for the design of the new building on the basis
of his earlier work, the presence on the competition jury of
his elder brother Stefan, a co-owner of the prosperous family
iron business, may also have contributed to his success.”” The
modern KoSice OPK building was constructed in 1930 by the
local construction firm of Ing. Hugo Kabos$ with an investment
of 2,700,000 K¢s.?®
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An outline of the situation of the structure, floor plans of
the ground and upper floors and also a perspective view of an
early variant of the front facade of the building in a somewhat
inelegant classical approach can be found in a collection of
the architect’s work which was published in the 1930s.” The
perspective view of the corner of the proposed building with the
title “Handels und Gewerbekammer in KoSice” and the motto
“COMMERTIA” presented in the collection was likely a part of
the architectural drawings that Oelschlager submitted to the
architectural competition. The plan of the three-storey OPK
building was arranged in an “L’-shaped structure, with both
wings of the building almost equal in length. Clients would en-
ter the main entrance on Hlavna ulica, while the staff entrance
was placed on Bacikova.*® The publication from the 1930s also
includes a depiction of the planned extension of the building
towards Bacikova and Masiarska, which would give the building
a “U"-shaped form.»

The axially symmetrical design of the entrance facade fea-
tured a centre section which projected slightly onto the street.
Above the extensive glazed shopfronts of the commercial units
on the ground floor, tall windows set into a shallow avant-corps
illuminated a two-level hall within. The ceremonial monumen-
tality of the exposed facade of the multifunctional building
was emphasized by a series of classical, downward-tapering
half-columns attached to the window pillars. This initial design
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underwent subsequent changes and clashed to some degree with
the later floor plan of the building from 1929 in which the avant-
corps was extended into the street, with the columns positioned
awkwardly below. Lamps mounted vertically on columns, a
design feature found in many of Oelschlager’s works, bring the
rhythm of the first floor to a close. This initial concept of the
design shown in the 1932 publication was complemented by

two semi-circular niches with statues positioned between the
windows on the sides of the avant-corps.

Although the basic conception of the OPK building was
apparent from the terms outlined in the architectural design
competition, the path to the final design of the structure was by
no means straightforward. The requirements called for a modern
multi-functional building which should be self-financing but
also provide autonomous and efficient operational space for
a modern institution. In order to avoid any disruption to the
activities of the building’s various functions, the ground floor
was allocated to commercial units and related storerooms,
each provided with separate entrances. The management and
administrative offices of the OPK were to be located on the first
floor, together with a multipurpose two-level hall and neces-
sary adjoining spaces. The main entrance to the OPK building
was located on Tordassyho ulica (now Bacikova) through an
elegant and spacious lobby faced with pale gold travertine from
Besenova near Ruzomberok and an imposing staircase. The
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lobby led to large and small reception halls, the main board-
room, the offices of the director and secretary, an archive and
several offices. The entrance on Hlavna led to a smaller staircase
which served the OPK offices facing the main street and a series
of apartments located on the second floor. These comfortable
and spacious apartments were intended for the use of Chamber
officials, although the arrangement of these 5, 4, 3, and single
roomed apartments was changed over the course of construc-
tion. A third staircase variant gave access to the lecture halls and
classrooms on the second floor. Part of the complex was also
rented to various firms for commercial purposes.

The ongoing process of developing and fine-tuning of the
original design, and the gradual evolution of the layout and
form of the building towards a more modern approach, is appar-
ent in the project documentation from 1928 and 1929.* Plans in
1:100 scale from October 1928 show that the pillars on the ground
floor still had a quadrilateral cross-section, while the design of
the Tordassyho (Bacikova) facade is uninventive, with only the
rounded corners worthy of interest. In the 1:50 scale plans from
October 1929, however, the conceptual design was now finalized.
The original published sketch of a classical symmetrical facade
of the entrance on Bacikova had been reworked into a more
modern and elegant form: the Renaissance-influenced original
competition proposal transformed into a more abstract Purist
and monumentalist design. The main entrance, covered by a
massive projecting avant-corps consisting of the first and second
floors of the building supported by six substantial columns
which unconventionally taper downwards, is on the north side
of the building. The elegantly designed artificial stone columns
with finely contoured bases and gently inclined capitals feature
details rendered in plasterwork. The corner on the first floor had
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reverted to its original form of the proposal found in the 1932
publication, in which the ground floor section displays a convex
curvature. The line of intersection between the two street
facades continues through a dominant smooth column in Spis
travertine without base or capital which embellishes the entire
ground floor. This accentuation of the first floor in the corner

of a city block forming a conclusion to the built-up area in the
northern part of a historic city centre was also adopted almost

a decade later in another location by the Bratislava architect
Alexander Skutecky.?

A similar approach in urban setting and form can be seen
in the design of the Jewish school and community centre in
Uzhhorod?*# and the community centre in Sevlus (modern day
Vynohradiv in Ukraine). This arrangement of a projecting avant-
corps with tall windows illuminating a large two-level hall for
meetings and events appears in several of Oelschldager’s works
from the first half of the 20th century, while the original form of
the columns tapering downwards can be found in the entrance
to his Kino Férum (Slovan) from 1926 — 1927 in KoSice. It is
highly probable that Oelschldger collaborated with the noted
Kosice sculptor, stonemason and stucco mason Julius Kristof
(1878 — 7)* in the design of the OPK building’s columns and the
original stylized geometric ornamentation with variations on art
deco motifs, as was the case with many of the architect’s famous
works in Slovakia, Ukraine and Hungary.

The resultant layout and form of the OPK building is a
logical development from Oelschldger’s formal vocabulary from
the late 1920s, in which the architect plays with classical motifs
in his own distinctly modern style in combination with art deco
detail. Evidently, after his return from the study tour of Europe
which he undertook immediately completing his studies in Bu-
dapest, he began to respond in his work to contemporary archi-
tectural events, such as the International Exhibition of Modern
Decorative and Industrial Arts held in Paris in 1925. At the same
time, Oelschlager also followed architectural trends in the newly
formed Czechoslovakia, where, in addition to other interesting
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figures, the extraordinarily creative Slovenian architect JoZe
Ple¢nik was active in this period at Prague Castle. Coincidentally,
Ple¢nik was entrusted with the reconstruction of the Ljubljana
Chamber of Commerce, Trade and Industry from 1925 to 1927.3°
Ple¢nik was inspired by ancient architecture,’” a period that held
a strong appeal for Oelschlager, who would himself go on to play
with the motifs of early Aegean culture not only in the main en-
trance of the Kosice OPK building, but also in his other designs
in Sub-Carpathian Rus.

After the completion of the KoSice OPK building and its
opening in October 1930, the Chamber operated continuously
in the premises until December 1948. At the close of 1937, the
Chamber implemented a further element of the ambitious orig-
inal plans for the development of the property through the con-
struction of a modern rental apartment building on the north-
west corner of Masiarska and Bacikova ulica,® again designed
by Oelschlager. The extension was funded by the OPK Admin-
istrators’ Pension Fund for whom the three-storey residential
building with central heating was completed in less than nine
months by the KoSice construction firm of Ing. Hugo Kabos.»

Conclusion
The far-reaching international events of 1938 had a direct im-
pact on the operations of the OPK in KoSice. Following the Vi-
enna Arbitration, the city, together with parts of south Slovakia
and Sub-Carpathian Rus, was conceded to Horthy’s Hungary.
Given that the Chamber would be forced to work on behalf
of its members in both the Slovak and Hungarian parts of its
territory, there was a clear need to divide the institution. On the
basis of a mutual agreement, the Slovak section was relocated
to PreSov, where the Slovak and Czech officials began working
immediately in three offices in a town house under difficult
circumstances.*

The Chamber employees returned to KoSice after the end of
World War II and the restoration of the Czechoslovak Republic
in 1945, with the OPK resuming its activities across the entirety
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of its pre-1938 territory albeit without Sub-Carpathian Rus. Fol-
lowing the Communist coup d’état in February 1948, the KoSice
OPK had no place within the system of state economic institu-
tions and ceased its activities on 31st December 1948.

After the Velvet Revolution of 1989, the Regional Chamber
in KoSice was launched in March 1991 within the framework
of the Czechoslovak Chamber of Commerce and Industry; after
1st July 1992 assuming the form of the Regional Chamber of the
Slovak Chamber of Commerce and Industry, but it no longer

occupies the former OPK building.#* Oelschlager’s building, a key
representation of KoSice modernism, is now listed as a State Cul-

tural Monument, and it is possible to hope that it can undergo
a sensitive renovation in the near future which will retain its

full multi-functional character.
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